
M E N D O C I N O 
Local Agency Formation Commission 

Ukiah Valley Conference Center | 200 South School Street | Ukiah, California 95482 

Telephone: (707) 463-4470 | Fax:  (707) 462-2088 | E-mail:  eo@mendolafco.org | Web: www.mendolafco.org 

 

 

 
COMMISSIONERS 
Jerry Ward, Chair & 
Treasurer 
Public Member 
 
Carre Brown, Vice Chair 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Kevin Doble 
Ukiah City Council 
 
Gerardo Gonzalez 
Willits City Council 
 
John McCowen 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Theresa McNerlin 
Ukiah Valley Sanitation District 
 
Tony Orth 
Brooktrails Township CSD 
 
Scott Ignacio, Alternate 
Point Arena City Council 
 
Dan Hamburg, Alternate 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Carol Rosenberg, Alternate 
Public Member 
 

Jenifer Bazzani, Alternate 
Ukiah Valley Fire District 
 
 
STAFF 
Executive Officer 
Uma Hinman 
 
Analyst 
Larkyn Feiler 
 
Commission Clerk 
Elizabeth Salomone 

 
Counsel 
Scott Browne 
 
Regular Meetings 
First Monday 
of each month 
at 9:00 AM 
in the Mendocino 
County Board 
of Supervisors Chambers 
501 Low Gap Road 
 

 

Executive Committee Meeting 
 

A G E N D A 

 

Monday, November 5, 2018 
Directly after the Regular Commission Meeting and no sooner than 10:00am 

County Board of Supervisors Chamber 
Mendocino County Administrative Building 

501 Low Gap Road, Ukiah, CA 95482 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL  

Chair Jerry Ward, Vice Chair Carre Brown, and Kevin Doble 
 

2. MATTERS FOR DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION 
  

2a) Approval of the September 24, 2018  Executive Committee Minutes 

2b) Fire Service Out of Area Service Agreements 

Executive Officer to provide update. 

2d) Mendocino Coast Healthcare District Report 

Committee to discuss any direction given by full Commission. 

3e) Items for Future Meetings 

 
3. INFORMATION AND REPORT ITEMS 

 
3a) Executive Officer Report 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

The next Regular Commission Meeting is scheduled for 
Monday, December 3, 2018 

in the County Board of Supervisors Chambers,  
501 Low Gap Road, Ukiah, California 

  
 

mailto:eo@mendolafco.org
http://www.mendolafco.org/


M E N D O C I N O 
Local Agency Formation Commission 

Ukiah Valley Conference Center | 200 South School Street | Ukiah, California 95482 

Telephone: (707) 463-4470 | E-mail:  eo@mendolafco.org | Web: http://mendolafco.org 

 

 

COMMISSIONERS 
Gerald Ward, Chair & Treasurer 
Public Member 
 
Carre Brown, Vice Chair 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Kevin Doble 
Ukiah City Council 
 
Gerardo Gonzalez 
Willits City Council 
 
John McCowen 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Theresa McNerlin 
Ukiah Valley Sanitation District 
 
Tony Orth 
Brooktrails Township CSD 
 
Scott Ignacio, Alternate 
Point Arena City Council 
 
Dan Hamburg, Alternate 
County Board of Supervisors 
 
Carol Rosenberg, Alternate 
Public Member 
 
Jenifer Bazzani, Alternate 
Ukiah Valley Fire District 
 
STAFF 
Executive Officer 
Uma Hinman 
 
Analyst 
Larkyn Feiler 
 
Commission Clerk 
Elizabeth Salomone 

 
Counsel 
Scott Browne 
 
Regular Meetings 
First Monday 
of each month 
at 9:00 AM 
in the Mendocino 
County Board 
of Supervisors Chambers 
501 Low Gap Road 

Agenda Item No. 2a 
 

Executive Committee Minutes 
Monday, September 24, 2018 

Ukiah Valley Conference Center, Chardonnay Room 
200 S School Street, Ukiah, CA 95482 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL 
Chair Ward called the meeting to order at 10:00am 
Members Present: Commissioners Carre Brown, Kevin Doble, and Gerald Ward 
Staff Present:               Uma Hinman  
 

2. MATTERS FOR DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION 
  

2a) Approval of the September 10, 2018  Executive Committee Minutes 
Upon motion by Commissioner Doble and second by Commissioner Brown, the 
Executive Committee meeting minutes of September 10, 2018 were unanimously 
approved: 

Ayes:  Commissioners Brown, Doble, and Ward 
 

2b) Fire Services Out of Area Service Agreements 
EO Hinman presented research on the history of the out of area fire service 
contracts, which dates back to 2007. The Committee directed staff to work with Legal 
Counsel to identify a process for Commission consideration of existing and proposed 
out of area fire service contracts. 
 

2c) Mendocino Coast Hospital District MSR/SOI Update 
The intent and limitations of doing an MSR/SOI Update was discussed. Committee 
directed staff to continue researching the issues brought forward at the September 10, 
2018 Commission meeting and present to the full Commission in November.  

 

2d) Items for Future Meetings 
After discussing the light agenda for the October 1, 2018 Regular Commission meeting, 
the Executive Committee directed staff to cancel the meeting. The Executive 
Committee will meet on October 1, 2018 at 9am to hear an update from staff on the 
subjects noted above.   
  

3. INFORMATION AND REPORT ITEMS 
 

3a) Executive Officer Report 
The EO reported that one nomination was received for each of the Special District 
seats: John Huff will hold the Regular seat and Jenifer Bazzani will continue as the 
Alternate. No ballot process was necessary. 

 
ADJOURNMENT  

 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:48am. 
 

mailto:eo@mendolafco.org


Agenda Item No. 2  

 
MENDOCINO 

Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

Staff Report 

DATE:  November 5, 2018 

TO:  Mendocino Local Agency Formation Commission - Executive Committee 

FROM: Uma Hinman, Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Anderson Valley Community Services District Out of Area Fire Service Agreements 

 

Background  

The Anderson Valley (CSD) provides fire protection and ambulance services to the Anderson 
Valley/Boonville area along US Highway 128. In May 2018, LAFCo received 34 service agreements 
(via USPS mail) between property owners and AVCSD for the provision of fire protection services: 
17 new agreements and 17 agreement renewals. The agreement renewals were for properties that were 
recognized and mapped in the 2015 SOI Update for the District. The service agreements consist of 
adopted contracts and notation of a payment of fee from the property owners to the District. The 
service agreements state that properties are located within the District’s SOI and that they are not 
valid until approved by LAFCo.  

History 

During its March 3, 2008 regular meeting, the Commission approved a test process specific to AVCSD 
for administratively approving out of area fire service agreements with direction to the Executive 
Officer to provide annual reports to the Commission. Research of LAFCo’s files discovered one of 
these agreements signed by EO McMichael in August 2010; however, the total number is unknown.  

The out of district services began in approximately 2008 as a way to charge for service outside the 
district boundary and avoid exposing the District to additional liability (MSR, 2014). The 2014 MSR 
reported 29 contracts for out of district service. The AVCSD reports that they have 30 properties that 
were offered contract renewal as of July 1st, 2015 (District Manager, August, 2015). (SOI, 2015) 

 

While each contract does not contain a specified contract expiration date, the agreements may be 
renewed annually upon payment of the annual fee until annexation occurs, and shall terminate upon 
annexation or upon written notice of cancellation by the owner, the District or LAFCo (District 
Manager, August, 2015). The contracts include a clause stating that both the District and resident 
anticipate eventual annexation into the District. Each individual contract has a clause that an out-of-
area service agreement becomes effective upon LAFCo approval (MSR, 2014). 

All of the proposed contracts are within the District’s SOI, which coincides with its recognized 
response area. 

 

EO Hinman consulted Legal Counsel regarding the OASA fire contracts; Counsel confirmed that the 
OASA contracts are subject to 56133 and require LAFCo approval in accordance with CKH and 

Uma Hinman
Typewritten text
b



Mendocino LAFCo policies. Mendocino LAFCo policies (Chapter 11, Sec. 2) set forth the procedure 
to be followed. The policies specifically require consideration by the Commission regarding the 
allowance of contracting rather than annexing to the district.   
 
The Executive Committee requested legal opinion on whether or not the Commission would be held 
liable by approving such contracts. Current legal counsel response was consistent with the 2007 Legal 
Opinion by Houston (attached) that LAFCo should not incur any liability for approving such 
contracts.  
 
Application Process 

Out of area service agreements require application to LAFCo, including submission of an 
application form, the proposed contracts, a statement from the District as to their capacity to 
provide the proposed OASA service without detracting from current service levels, and a fee 
deposit. The Fee Schedule requires a minimum deposit of 50% of the cost of an 
Agreement: annexation, plus agency costs plus CEQA. It is anticipated that the applications would 
be exempt from CEQA. 

 
Review of Request.  Once a request is deemed complete, the Executive Officer will prepare a written 
report with a recommendation. The Executive Officer will present the report and recommendation at 
a public hearing for Commission consideration. The public hearing will be scheduled for the next 
regular meeting of the Commission for which adequate notice can be given but no later than 90 
days. The Executive Officer’s written report will be made available to the public for review prior to 
the scheduled hearing. 
 
The Commission may approve or deny the request, and if approved, such approval may be with or 
without conditions. The conditions may include a requirement that the affected agency submit an 
application for annexation by a specific date and that the owner bind the property to consent to annex 
as set forth in Mendocino LAFCo policies and the CKH. If denied, the affected agency can ask for 
reconsideration within 30 days of Commission action. Out of area services agreements are not subject 
to the protest hearing process.  

Steps Forward 

Despite past approaches to approving AVCSD out area fire service agreements, the appropriate path 
forward is application and consideration by the Commission in accordance with 56133(d).  

 

Staff recommends the attached letter to AVCSD notifying them of the correct procedures for 
considering the agreements and the process for making application. Further, to address the OASAs 
sent to LAFCo earlier this year, the following steps are recommended:  

 

1. Request District document all OASA fire service contracts (map and list of parcels) 

2. Consider them retroactively with appropriate fees to cover LAFCo costs 

3. If appropriate, require annexation of affected parcels to clean up boundaries 

 
 

Attachments:  Draft Letter to AVCSD  
2007 Counsel Opinion re: fire service OASAs 
CKH Section 56133 
Mendocino LAFCo Policies RE: OASAs



 

 

 
DATE 
 
Joy Andrews, General Manager 
Anderson Valley CSD 
P.O. Box 398 
Booneville, CA 95415 
 
RE:  Out of Area Fire Services Agreements 
 
Dear Ms Andrews: 
 
This letter is written to advise the District of the appropriate process for submitting out of area service 
agreements to the Mendocino Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) for consideration.  Under 
Government Code §56133, out of area service agreements (OASAs) require LAFCo approval before any 
extensions of service are provided. LAFCo is requesting the District provide a complete list and map of all fire 
services agreements provided to parcels outside its boundaries in order to determine a path toward 
compliance with the law.  
 
Please understand that LAFCo is supportive of the significant efforts made to provide fire service to 
residences within its response area. However we are concerned that providing fire service without LAFCo 
consideration or annexation not only violates state law, but also will result in reduced capacity to provide 
services within District boundaries as well as governance concerns. These are important LAFCo 
considerations when reviewing boundary and service delivery issues. Additionally, because these properties 
will have already been provided with the critical fire protection services, they will have little reason to ever 
seek or support annexation to the District. The result would be fragmented District service areas which 
would be inconsistent with LAFCo’s core objectives of encouraging orderly, logical boundaries and the 
efficient delivery of municipal services.     
  
The Executive Officer would like to meet with the District to develop a plan for documenting all of the OASAs 
and making application to LAFCo for consideration. We look forward to hearing from the District with 
regards to this matter. In the meantime, it is important that the District comply with the law and not enter 
into fire service agreements with properties outside the District boundaries until they have received LAFCo 
approval.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Uma Hinman 
Executive Officer 
 
cc:  















 

CORTESE-KNOX-HERTZBERG ACT 
56133.  
Services by Contract Outside City and District Boundaries 
(a) A city or district may provide new or extended services by contract or agreement outside its 
jurisdictional boundary only if it first requests and receives written approval from the commission.  
(b) The commission may authorize a city or district to provide new or extended services outside its 
jurisdictional boundary but within its sphere of influence in anticipation of a later change of 
organization.  
Threat to Health and Safety 
(c) If consistent with adopted policy, the commission may authorize a city or district to provide new 
or extended services outside its jurisdictional boundary and outside its sphere of influence to 
respond to an existing or impending threat to the health or safety of the public or the residents of 
the affected territory, if both of the following requirements are met:  

(1) The entity applying for approval has provided the commission with documentation of a 
threat to the health and safety of the public or the affected residents.  

Notice for Alternate Service Provider 
(2) The commission has notified any alternate service provider, including any water corporation 
as defined in Section 241 of the Public Utilities Code, that has filed a map and a statement of its 
service capabilities with the commission.  

Proceedings for Review 
(d) The executive officer, within 30 days of receipt of a request for approval by a city or district to 
extend services outside its jurisdictional boundary, shall determine whether the request is complete 
and acceptable for filing or whether the request is incomplete. If a request is determined not to be 
complete, the executive officer shall immediately transmit that determination to the requester, 
specifying those parts of the request that are incomplete and the manner in which they can be made 
complete. When the request is deemed complete, the executive officer shall place the request on the 
agenda of the next commission meeting for which adequate notice can be given but not more than 
90 days from the date that the request is deemed complete, unless the commission has delegated 
approval of requests made pursuant to this section to the executive officer. The commission or 
executive officer shall approve, disapprove, or approve with conditions the extended services. If the 
new or extended services are disapproved or approved with conditions, the applicant may request 
reconsideration, citing the reasons for reconsideration.  
 

  



 

MENDOCINO LAFCO POLICIES 
 
Section 2. Extension of Services by Contract  
1. Commission Approval Required. Except for the specific situations exempted by G.C. §56133(e), a 
city or district shall not provide new or extended services to any party or property outside its 
jurisdictional boundaries unless it has obtained written approval from LAFCo, consistent with the 
CKH Act and the policies described herein.  

2. Extension of Services within Sphere. Annexation to cities and special districts involving territory 
located within the affected agency’s sphere of influence is generally preferred to extending services 
by contract or agreement. The Commission recognizes, however, there may be local circumstances 
that justify approval of extended services by contract or agreement within the affected agency’s 
sphere of influence. Such local circumstances most frequently involve extension of service to meet 
an existing health and safety need, where annexation is not practical or deemed undesirable for other 
policy reasons. The Commission will give great weight to properly documented existing health and 
safety needs when considering justification of such extensions. The Commission discourages use of 
contract service extensions for the purpose of extending services to new development. The 
Commission will approve such extensions only under extraordinary circumstance and may apply 
strict limitations on such services.  

3. Extension of Services Outside Sphere. The Commission shall authorize a city or special district’s 
request to provide new or extended services outside their jurisdictional boundary and sphere of 
influence only in response to an existing or future threat to public health or safety in accordance 
with G.C. §56133(c).  

4. Administrative Approval Under Urgent Circumstances. The Commission authorizes the 
Executive Officer, in accordance with G.C. §56133(d), to administratively approve a city or special 
district’s request for extended services by contract or agreement if there is an existing and urgent 
public health or safety emergency as identified in writing from the local public health officer. The 
Commission shall ratify the Executive Officer’s determination at the next regularly scheduled 
meeting.  

5. Exemptions to LAFCo Approval Requirement. Commission approval may not be required for 
cities or special districts to provide new or extended services outside their jurisdictional boundaries 
in accordance with the provisions of G.C. §56133(e). The Executive Officer shall consult with cities 
and districts to determine whether extended services agreements are subject to Commission review.  

6. Anticipation of Later Annexation. G.C. §56133(b) authorizes the Commission to approve 
contracts for extension of services “in anticipation of a later change of organization”. The 
Commission defines the term “anticipation of a later change of organization” as follows:  

a) The inclusion of the area to be served within the sphere of influence of the serving agency 
shall be sufficient to comply with this provision.  

7. Agreements Consenting to Annex. Whenever the Commission determines to condition the 
approval upon a later annexation of the affected property, the condition shall normally include a 
requirement that the owner record an agreement consenting to annex the territory, which agreement 
shall bind future owners of the property. The agreement shall be prepared by LAFCo legal counsel 
and provided to the landowners for execution and recording. Proof of recordation will be require 
before the LAFCo contract approval becomes final and effective. 
 


	2018, 11-5 Agenda Executive Committee.pdf (p.1)
	2018, 11-5 Agenda Item 2a, 9-24-18 Exec Mtg minutes for approval.pdf (p.2)
	2018, 11-5 Agenda Item 2b, Fire Service OASA Contracts.pdf (p.3-13)
	2007, 9-21 Legal Opinion re Agreement for Fire Service OAS.pdf (p.1-2)
	2007 draft agreement.pdf (p.3-6)


